1980

Redwood Gym, Alice'S Health Studio, Cindy'S
Golden Touch, Gentlemen'S Quarters, Lynn'S
Health Studio, Ginger'S Health Studio, Kelly'S
Health Studio, Kim'S Health Studio, Cavalier
Health Studio, and Continental Health Studio v.
Salt Lake County Commission, Salt Lake County
Attorney'S office, and Salt Lake County Sheriff'S
Department : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

The appellants brought this action seeking the lower court's declaration that §§ 15-18-3, 15-18-4, 15-18-5, 15-18-7, and 15-18-8, Revised Ordinances of Salt Lake County, 1966, violate the laws and Constitution of the State of Utah and the Constitution of the United States, and further seeking the lower court's order permanently enjoining the enforcement of said sections.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Having reviewed the parties' joint motion for summary judgment,

stipulated facts and respective memoranda of points and authorities, the

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.
Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

Third Judicial District Court, the Honorable Homer F. Wilkinson, Judge, rendered its Memorandum Decision denying appellants' motion for summary judgment and granting respondents' motion for summary judgment.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellants seek to have the lower court's Memorandum Decision reversed, appellants' motion for summary judgment granted, §§ 15-18-3, 15-18-4, 15-18-5, 15-18-7, and 15-18-8 of the Revised Ordinances of Salt Lake County declared unlawful and unconstitutional, and the enforcement of said sections permanently enjoined.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Board of County Commissioners of Salt Lake County, on November 20, 1978, enacted Title 15, Chapter 18 of the Revised Ordinances of Salt Lake County (ROSLCO), 1966, as amended (hereinafter "massage ordinance"), which ordinance was to become effective on December 6, 1978. The appellants, being real parties in interest as unincorporated business entities under the laws of the State of Utah whose rights and legal relations were affected by the newly enacted massage ordinance, filed a complaint with the lower court on December 5, 1978, seeking that court's declaration that §§ 15-18-3, 15-18-4, 15-18-5, 15-18-7, and 15-18-8 of the massage ordinance violate the laws and Constitution of the State of Utah and the Constitution of the United States, and further seeking that court's order permanently enjoining the enforcement of said sections. Additionally, on December 5, 1978, appellants filed a motion for a temporary restraining order, which motion was granted, and an order temporarily enjoining and restraining respondents from enforcing the

massage ordinance issued on the same date, upon the signature of the Honorable David B. Dee, Judge. On December 14, 1978, the parties stipulated to the continuance of the temporary restraining order, as it applied to § 15-18-5(1) and (2) of the massage ordinance, and agreed to present arguments on the issues of law raised by appellants' complaint by means of a joint motion for summary judgment, and further agreed to stipulated facts for purposes of summary judgment. Oral arguments were presented before the trial court on August 27, 1979, supplemented by extensive memoranda. The trial court entered its Memorandum Decision under the pen of the Honorable Homer F. Wilkinson, presiding Judge, which decision denied appellants' motion for summary judgment and granted respondents' motion for summary judgment and which decision set aside the restraining order effective December 19, 1979, at 5:00 P.M. Appellants filed their notice of appeal, certificate, designation of record on appeal and appeal bond with the lower court on December 19, 1979. Additionally, on December 19, 1979, appellants filed with this Court a motion seeking the restoration of the restraining order for the pendency of the appeal. On December 21, 1979, counsel for both parties met with the Honorable D. Frank Wilkins in chambers for the purpose of presenting informal arguments relative to whether the restraining order should be restored for the interim period prior to this Court's ruling on appellants' motion. An order issued that day restraining respondents from enforcing § 15-18-5(1) of the massage ordinance, said order to run until January 7, 1980. A hearing was had on appellants' motion before this Court on January 7, 1980, and based upon the parties' oral arguments and appellants' memorandum, appellants' motion was granted and the restraining order, as it applied to § 15-18-5(1) of the massage ordinance, was restored for the pendency of the appeal.

The sections of the massage ordinance challenged herein or otherwise referred to read as follows:

Sec. 15-18-1. Definitions. For the purpose of this chapter the following terms shall have the meanings prescribed:

(2) "Masseur" shall mean any person who gives massages for hire; provided that any person who is duly licensed by the Department of Registration to practice the healing arts shall not be included in this definition.

(4) "Employee" means the operator, owner, or manager of a massage establishment and any person performing massages at or on the premises of a massage establishment and also any agent or independent contractor who gives massages at a massage establishment.

Sec. 15-18-3. Requirements for the Issuance of a License. Each individual desiring a massage establishment license or a masseur license shall: (1) Be an individual at least 21 years of age.

Sec. 15-18-4. Sanitary Premises. All applications for a massage establishment license shall be referred to the Salt Lake City-County Board of Health for investigation and a license shall be granted only after a finding by the Salt Lake City-County Board of Health that the proposed premises are sanitary enough to conduct business therein without jeopardizing the public health.

Sec. 15-18-5. Prohibited Acts. The following acts are prohibited:

(1) It shall be unlawful for a masseur to administer, for hire, to any person of the opposite sex, a massage, a fomentation, or a bath. It shall be unlawful for any massage establishment to cause or permit in or about his place of business, an employee to administer a massage upon any person of the opposite sex. This section shall not apply to any treatment administered by any person licensed to practice a healing art or profession under the provisions of Utah code Annotated, 1953, or any other law of this state.

(2) It shall be unlawful to serve, to store, or allow to be consumed, any alcoholic beverages on the licensed premises of a massage establishment.

(3) It shall be unlawful for a masseur to touch or offer to touch or massage the genitalia of customers.

Sec. 15-18-7. Civil Sanctions. Any unlawful conduct, whether the omission to perform an act required by this ordinance, or the performance of an act prohibited by this ordinance, shall be cause for revocation or suspension of a massage establishment's license or masseur's license. The holder of a massage establishment license may have his or her license revoked or suspended for any and all violations of the provisions of this ordinance committed by his or her employees.

Sec. 15-18-8. Penal Sanctions. The person convicted of violations of this chapter of the Revised Ordinances of Salt Lake County may be fined not to exceed \$299.00, imprisoned in the Salt Lake County Jail not to exceed six months, or both.

ARGUMENT

The massage ordinance challenged herein represents Salt Lake County's most recent attempt at reaching the criminal offense of prostitution through enactment of an ordinance designed to suppress and prohibit the legitimate business of massage parlors. The County's prior efforts of this sort have been struck down as being "vague and uncertain," "not subject to regulation by the County," and "not a proper exercise of the police power," Jensen v. Salt Lake County, 530 P.2d 3 (Utah 1974); "creating irrational differentiations," "punishing masseurs without trial and conviction," and as "arbitrary and unreasonable," Hart Health Studio v. Salt Lake County, 577 P.2d 116 (Utah 1978).

The appellants contend that the newly enacted massage ordinance again suffers from the above-cited defects and other impairing defects, making said ordinance invalid and unenforceable, more specifically set out as follows:

POINT I

THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF SALT LAKE COUNTY EXCEEDED ITS DELEGATED SCOPE OF AUTHORITY IN ENACTING § 15-18-5(1) OF THE MASSAGE ORDINANCE AND SAID SECTION IS THEREFORE INVALID AND UNENFORCEABLE.

- A. SECTION 17-5-27, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED (1953), AS AMENDED, DELEGATES COUNTIES THE AUTHORITY TO LICENSE MASSAGE PARLOR BUSINESSES SOLELY FOR PURPOSES OF REGULATION AND REVENUE -- NOT FOR PURPOSES OF SUPPRESSION AND PROHIBITION.

The underlying purpose and objective of the Salt Lake County Commission's enactment of §§ 15-18-5(1), 15-18-7, and 15-18-8 of the massage ordinance, which sections make the administration of a massage by a licensed masseur or masseuse upon any person of the opposite sex unlawful and subject to civil and penal sanctions, is to reach the criminal offense of prostitution through the suppression and prohibition of massage parlor businesses.

It is contended by respondents that two statutory grants of authority, § 17-5-27, Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended (UCA), discussed herein, and § 17-5-77, UCA, discussed infra at Point I-B, authorize the County to enact the massage ordinance in question. The appellants contend, however, that the County has significantly exceeded these delegated grants of authority.

Section 17-5-27, UCA, provides in relevant part as follows:

License business for regulation and revenue -- They (County Commissioners) may license for purposes of regulation and revenue all and every kind of business not prohibited by law . . . they may license, tax, regulate, suppress and prohibit billiard, bagatelle, pigeonhole, or any other tables or implements kept or used for similar purposes, also pin alleys or tables, and ball alleys, dancing halls (Emphasis added.)

While it is clear from the above statute, and appellants so concede, that the County may license the business of massage parlors, just as it

may license "all and every kind of business," it is equally clear that the County's licensing authority is statutorily limited, not absolute.

Under the doctrine of statutory construction, expressio unius est exclusio alterius, the express mention of one matter excludes all other similar matters not mentioned. Rio Grande Motor Way, Inc. v. Public Service Commission, 445 P.2d 990 (Utah 1968); Great Salt Lake Authority v. Island Ranching Co., 414 P.2d 963 (Utah 1966); and Hansen v. Board of Education of Emery County School, 116 P.2d 936 (Utah 1941). Thus, properly construed, § 17-5-27 delegates the County authority to use its licensing power, in the case of businesses in general, for purposes of "regulation and revenue" and, in the case of those businesses expressly named (e.g., "billiard, bagatelle . . ."), for the additional purposes of "suppression and prohibition." Since massage parlors are not included among those businesses expressly named, massage parlors can be licensed only for the purposes of regulation and revenue: the County is without authority to suppress and prohibit.

The appellants submit that § 15-18-5(1) of the massage ordinance goes beyond the area of regulation into the areas of suppression and prohibition. As has been stipulated to, there are approximately 140 licensed masseurs in Salt Lake County, of which approximately 130 are women, and the vast majority of massage parlor patrons are men. (See, Stipulated Facts, nos. 6 and 7.) Given the opposite sex massage prohibition of § 15-18-5(1), combined with the sanctions of §§ 15-18-7 and 15-18-8, nearly 95% of the massage parlors and masseurs will be driven out of business as a direct result of the massage ordinance. This is suppression and prohibition, not regulation.

A case analogous to the instant case in that it, too, raises the significant distinction between regulation and prohibition is Combined Communications Corporation v. City and County of Denver, 542 P.2d 79 (Colo. 1975). There, the Supreme Court of Colorado had occasion to examine a city ordinance prohibiting erection of new outdoor advertising and, in that case, as in the instant case, the city's grant of authority spoke only of regulation and not of prohibition. The court stated:

Under a concept of reasonableness, the charter authorization of regulation does not permit (the municipality) . . . to prohibit this entire industry. At 542 P.2d 83.

The court, citing authorities, went on to hold:

. . . that the power to regulate does not include 'any power, express of inherent, to prohibit.' At 542 P.2d 84. (Emphasis added.)

The holding in Combined Communications Corporation, *supra*, is consistent with Winther v. Village of Weippe, 430 P.2d 689 (Idaho 1967), wherein the Supreme Court of Idaho stated the general rule as to municipalities' authority to license and regulate:

It is the general rule that where authority to license and regulate a business is granted by the legislature to a municipality, the regulations adopted must not be unreasonable, unjust or unduly oppressive (citations omitted) nor . . . such as to be prohibitory (citations omitted). At 430 P.2d 695. (Emphasis added.)

In sum, although § 15-18-5(1) of the massage ordinance is couched in the disguising language of a licensing mechanism, the true purpose is to reach the criminal offense of prostitution through the suppression and prohibition of the legitimate business of massage parlors, and appellants submit, based on the general principles of statutory construction and the above-cited authorities, that the County in enacting

§ 15-18-5(1) has exceeded its delegated scope of authority under § 17-5-27, UCA, and said section must be found invalid and unenforceable.

B. SECTION 17-5-77, UCA, DELEGATES COUNTIES THE AUTHORITY TO USE THE POLICE POWER TO IMPROVE MORALS, PEACE AND GOOD ORDER -- BUT ONLY WHERE "NECESSARY AND PROPER" AND § 15-18-5(1) OF THE MASSAGE ORDINANCE IS NEITHER NECESSARY NOR PROPER.

In addition to the grant of authority claimed under § 17-5-27, discussed supra, the County contends that the general police power delegated under § 17-5-77 authorizes the County's enactment of § 15-18-5(1) of the massage ordinance. The appellants contend, however, that the use of the police power is statutorily limited to situations where such use is necessary and proper and that § 15-18-5(1) of the massage ordinance is neither necessary nor proper.

Section 17-5-77, UCA, provides in relevant part as follows:

Ordinances -- Power to enact -- Penalty for violation --
The board of county commissioners may pass all ordinances and rules and make all regulations, not repugnant to law, . . . such as are necessary and proper to . . . improve the morals, peace and good order . . . of the county and inhabitants thereof. (Emphasis added.)

(i) SECTION 15-8-5(1) IS NOT NECESSARY.

As was stated supra at Point I-A, the underlying purpose and objective of the opposite sex massage prohibition of § 15-18-5(1), although couched in terms of a licensing ordinance, is to reach the criminal offense of prostitution. The appellants submit that no additional ordinance is necessary to proscribe prostitution specifically or illicit sexual activity in general.

The area of prostitution is comprehensively covered by the Utah Criminal Code: § 76-10-1302, "Prostitution;" § 76-10-1303, "Patronizing a Prostitute;" § 76-10-1304, "Aiding a Prostitute;" § 76-10-1305, "Exploiting Prostitution;" and § 76-10-1306, "Aggravated Exploitation of Prostitution." Additionally, the Utah Criminal code covers other illicit sexual activity: § 76-5-401, "Unlawful Sexual Intercourse;" § 76-5-403, "Sodomy;" and § 76-5-404, "Forcible Sexual Abuse." The Salt Lake County Ordinances cover prostitution as well, at § 16-23-3, and general sexual offenses, at § 16-23-1, et seq.

The above offenses, in addition to fines, carry penalties ranging from imprisonment terms of 0 to 6 months to imprisonment terms of not less than 1 nor more than 15 years.

These statutes and ordinances, if appropriately enforced, are more than adequate to control prostitution, and no additional proscription of prostitution is necessary. The respondents' contention to the contrary, that the opposite sex massage prohibition of § 15-18-5(1) is necessary to combat prostitution because the above-cited laws are ineffective, is totally without merit. In this regard, the suggestion by Captain Morgan, (see, Stipulated Facts) that it "takes much more time as far as investigation is concerned than is justified by the outcome," speaks much more to the ineffectiveness of the investigators and the courts' reluctance to impose jail sentences than it does to any inherent inadequacies in the laws.

Moreover, in addition to the several above-referred-to statutes and ordinances aimed at controlling prostitution and other illicit sexual activity, the County has enacted § 15-18-5(3) of the massage ordinance. Section 15-18-5(3), not challenged herein, provides as follows:

- (3) It shall be unlawful for a masseur to touch or offer to touch or massage the genitalia of customers.

This section of the massage ordinance would provide additional, although not necessary, proscription of prostitution and is aimed directly at massage parlors. There is no purpose furthered by § 15-18-5(1) of the massage ordinance that is not met by § 15-18-5(3) of the same ordinance. So that, even ignoring the several external statutes and ordinances covering the same area, the massage ordinance itself internally makes § 15-18-5(1) totally unnecessary.

In sum, the existing laws designed to combat prostitution are sufficient to further the County's desire to improve morals, and these laws need only to be more effectively enforced and the punishment more effectively administered. Moreover, with the additional proscription of illicit sexual activity found in § 15-18-5(3) of the massage ordinance, § 15-18-5(1) is totally unnecessary and its enactment, is thus outside the County's delegated scope of authority under § 17-5-77, UCA, and said section must be found invalid and unenforceable.

(ii) SECTION 15-18-5(1) IS AN IMPROPER
EXERCISE OF THE POLICE POWER.

In addition to the County's use of the police power in enacting § 15-18-5(1) of the massage ordinance being unnecessary as discussed supra, its use is also improper.

A case on point is Jensen v. Salt Lake County, supra, wherein an earlier version of the Salt Lake County massage ordinance was challenged as being an improper exercise of the police power. The Utah Supreme Court, in reaching its holding, reasoned as follows:

At the trial in the court below a county commissioner and a member of the county sheriff's office testified that prostitution was the major concern in the adoption of the ordinance in question. It is the County's contention that it is a valid exercise of police power to regulate massage establishments and to control prostitution. We are of the opinion that the County does have the power to deal with those matters directly. However, the ordinance under consideration does neither, but rather it attempts to set standards and qualifications of those persons who intend to engage in a legitimate occupation or trade. This is not a proper exercise of the police power. At 530 P.2d 4. (Emphasis added.)

The Court concluded that the County's attempt to indirectly control prostitution through a licensing ordinance for massage parlors was an improper exercise of the police power, and further concluded that if the County wants to control prostitution, it has the power to do so, but it must exercise the power "directly."

The present massage ordinance suffers from the same sort of attempt to "indirectly" control prostitution through the licensing, in this case suppression and prohibition, of massage parlors. The opposite sex massage prohibition of § 15-18-5(1), like the high standards and qualifications demanded of masseurs by the massage ordinance challenged in Jensen, supra, is an improper exercise of the police power because the County has failed to directly deal with the matter of controlling prostitution and instead has prohibited the acts of a legitimate occupation with the intended purpose of having an indirect effect on prostitution.

In conclusion as to Point I, the County exceeded its delegated authority in enacting § 15-18-5(1) of the massage ordinance because said section is not for the purpose of regulation but for the purposes of suppression and prohibition, contrary to § 17-5-27, UCA, and because said section is neither necessary nor proper, contrary to § 17-5-77, UCA, and thus said section must be found invalid and unenforceable.

POINT II

SECTION 15-18-5(1) OF THE MESSAGE ORDINANCE IS INCONSISTENT WITH AND IN CONFLICT WITH COMPREHENSIVE STATE LAWS REGULATING CRIMINAL SEXUAL ACTIVITY IN THAT SAID SECTION, COMBINED WITH SECTION 15-8-8, ATTEMPTS TO MAKE CRIMES OF ACTS WHICH ARE NOT CRIMES UNDER STATE LAW.

Section 15-18-5(1) of the massage ordinance provides that the administration of a massage by a licensed masseur upon any person of the opposite sex is unlawful and, under § 15-8-8, the offender is subject to penal sanctions. Thus, in effect, the massage ordinance makes an opposite sex massage tantamount to criminal sexual activity.

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