1980

Redwood Gym, Alice'S Health Studio, Cindy'S
Golden Touch, Gentlemen'S Quarters, Lynn'S
Health Studio, Ginger'S Health Studio, Kelly'S
Health Studio, Kim'S Health Studio, Cavalier
Health Studio, and Continental Health Studio v.
Salt Lake County Commission, Salt Lake County
Attorney'S office, and Salt Lake County Sheriff'S
Department : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

POINT IV. THE STATE HAS NOT PREEMPTED THE FIELD OF SEXUAL OFFENSES AND THIS ORDINANCE IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH STATE LAW.

The appellants urge this court to adopt the rule set down by the Supreme Court of California in Lancaster v. Municipal Court for Beverly Hills, 494 P.2d 681 (1972) wherein the landmark case in the area of opposite-sex massages, Ex parte Maki, was partially overruled. The court in Lancaster determined that the criminal aspects of sexual activity had been preempted by the state legislature and any local municipal ordinance is invalid if it attempts to pose additional requirements in that area of the law. The court held at page 684:

We conclude that the Los Angeles ordinance which is a regulation of sexual conduct must be held invalid because the state has preempted the criminal aspects of sexual activity.

The preemption rule set forth in Lancaster is based on the California rule that the state has exclusive jurisdiction of criminal aspects of sexual activity, the Supreme Court of the State of Utah has taken an opposite position that makes the adoption of the Lancaster preemption argument inconsistent with existing law.

The leading case in the State of Utah in the area of pre-emption is Salt Lake City v. Kusse, 93 P.2d 671 (1938), wherein Justice Wolfe set down the rule that a local municipal ordinance is not in conflict with a similar state criminal statute unless (1) the local ordinance permits activities prohibited by the state law, or (2) the local ordinance is inconsistent with the state law. The court stated at page 673:

The city does not attempt to authorize by this ordinance what the Legislature has forbidden; nor does it forbid what the Legislature has expressly licensed, authorized, or required.

* * *

Unless legislative provisions are contradictory in the sense that they cannot coexist, they are not to be deemed inconsistent because of the mere lack of uniformity and detail.

Thirty years later, the Supreme Court of Utah, in the case of Salt Lake City v. Allred, 437 P.2d 434 (1968), had before it an argument similar to the one that is now urged upon the court by the appellants and set forth in Lancaster. Salt Lake City had adopted an ordinance prohibiting aiding or abetting the directing of any person to any place for purposes of committing and act of sexual intercourse for hire and the court upheld the ordinance and stated at page 437:

In summary we conclude that the state has not preempted the field of sexual offenses since the ordinance in question is a proper exercise of police power, and the ordinance is not inconsistent with the state statutes pertaining to sexual offenses.

Thus, the rule in Utah is directly contrary to the rule in California set forth in Lancaster. As to whether or not the

passing of ordinances by municipalities, for the purpose of defeating the business of prostitution is a proper exercise of police power the court in Allred stated at page 436:

There is nothing in the state statutes regulating sexual offenses that evidences any express or implied intent to preclude local governments from also attempting to prohibit and suppress the difficult problem of the sex offender. Therefore, it is our opinion that the city is not precluded in enacting the ordinance in question unless it is inconsistent or in conflict with the state statutes dealing with sex offenses.

It is a well-established principle in this state that the city has the right to legislate on the same subject as the state statute where either the general police power or express granted authorities conferred upon municipalities. (citations omitted)

However, the defendant contends in the case before us that the ordinance in question is inconsistent and in conflict with the state laws and, therefore, invalid on the grounds that the ordinance attempts to make crimes of acts which are not crimes under the state laws. Assuming this to be true, a careful examination of the city ordinance (citation omitted) and the material sections of the state laws pertaining to sexual offenses, (citations omitted) reveals that both the city ordinance and the state statutes have the common purpose of defeating the practice of business of prostitution or the vice of sexual intercourse for hire and are closely related in subject matter. The mere fact that an act denounced as a crime under the ordinance which is not denounced as a crime under the statute would not necessarily render the act under the ordinance inconsistent with the statute whereas here the ordinance is within the scope of the state law dealing with the same related subject of sexual offenses and is in no way repugnant to, but on the other hand is in harmony with the state laws. We believe the ordinance is consistent with the statute pertaining to sex offenses.

The enabling statute under which Salt Lake City enacted its anti-prostitution ordinance that was the subject of the Allred case is found at Utah Code Annotated, Section 10-8-84, 1953, as amended, and is, in all pertinent parts, identical to Utah Code

Annotated, Section 17-5-77, 1953 as amended, supra, under which Salt Lake County enacted the subject ordinance.

The court in Allred further stated that the language contained in the enabling statute was sufficient to sustain the ordinance directed at prostitution and stated at page 435:

Also in accordance with the power contained in Section 10-8-84, U.C.A. 1953, the Utah Supreme Court, in Ogden City v. Leo, 54 Utah 556, 182 P. 530, 5 A.L.R. 960, upheld as reasonable and valid a city ordinance prohibiting the maintenance of booths of certain dimensions in restaurants so as to prevent persons of both sexes having no regard for law or morals meeting in such places. If the prohibition involved in the Leo case had a reasonable relationship to the preservation of the public morals, the prohibition of an act of sexual intercourse for hire under the city ordinance in this case would also appear to bear a reasonable relationship to the preservation and protection of public morals.

The protection of public morals has always been a matter of local concern which requires regulation by municipalities, and properly falls within the scope of the police power.

The supreme court in State v. Salt Lake City, 21 U.2d 318, 445 P.2d 691 (1968), had before it a comprehensive ordinance that purported to license nonprofit clubs. The plaintiffs sued Salt Lake City alleging that the area of licensing private clubs was preempted by the State. The court determined that the area was preempted by the State and the City's ordinance was struck down, but in doing so, the court made an important distinction between municipal ordinances that impose additional requirements above and beyond those required by the State legislature and those municipal ordinances that prohibit citizens from doing some act, such as is the case with the ordinance in question. The court stated at page 694:

There is a relevant distinction which should be observed: where the legislature imposes the requirement of doing some affirmative action, such as obtaining a license or a charter, upon a citizen, it may be implied that the legislature intended that the cities and counties shall not require him to do more. In contrast, where the legislature prohibits the citizens from doing some act, there is no basis to imply that the legislature intended that cities and counties should not have additional prohibitions. This concept is in accordance with Salt Lake City v. Kusse, where this court in commenting on various tests to determine whether there is a conflict between the statute and the ordinance, quoted with approval the following:

* * *

"...the city does not attempt to authorize by this ordinance what the legislature has forbidden; nor does it forbid what the legislature has expressly licensed, authorized, or required."

In Allgood v. Larson, 545 P.2d 530 (Utah 1976) and Layton City v. Speth, 578 P.2d 828 (Utah 1978), the Supreme Court of Utah held that municipal ordinances may not set a criminal punishment that varies from the punishment imposed under state law for the same culpable behavior. The subject ordinance does not impose a criminal sanction that varies in magnitude with the state statutes and therefore Allgood and Layton City do not control.

The precedential value of the language in Allgood and Layton City is further diminished by the fact that a majority of the court did not join in the majority opinion in either case.

If this court finds the subject ordinance invalid because it is in conflict with the state criminal law, respondents urge this court to strike only that section of the ordinance that offends the state criminal law, namely, Section 15-18-8, and leave in

place the respondents' ability to revoke a business license for violation of the ordinance.

In City of Indianapolis v. Wright, the opposite-sex massage ordinance did not provide for criminal sanctions and therefore it was not preempted by general state law. The court held at page 1300:

The massage parlors contend that the city-county ordinance prohibits the same acts as are prohibited by the above state statutes and that the ordinance is therefore invalid. We have, however, already determined that the ordinance does not provide for misdemeanor penalties and there is no state statute which establishes a licensing system for massage parlors. Lancaster v. Municipal Court, (1972) 6 Cal.3d 805, 100 Cal.Rptr.609, 494 P.2d 681, is distinguishable in that the ordinance involved in that case provided for misdemeanor penalties. Under the facts of this case we do not believe that the present massage parlor ordinance involves the same "subject matter" as the state statutes. City of Indianapolis v. Sablica, (1976) Ind., 342 N.E.2d 853, 855. The ordinance establishes a licensing plan whereas the statutes establish a penal scheme. The ordinance is therefore not unconstitutional under Ind. Const. Art. 4 §§ 22 and 23 as being an attempted local law where the legislature has determined that a general law shall apply.

If Salt Lake City v. Kusse and Salt Lake City v. Allred still correctly represent the law in the State of Utah, the ordinance here in question does not violate general state law. If the ordinance is deemed invalid because it contradicts, or is preempted by, state criminal law, the section providing for penal sanctions should be severed in accordance with Section 15-18-9 of the ordinance, which provides: "In the event that any provision of this ordinance is declared invalid for any reason, the remaining sections shall remain in effect."

POINT V. THE SUBJECT ORDINANCE DOES NOT VIOLATE THE UTAH
ANTIDISCRIMINATION ACT NOR UTAH CODE ANNOTATED,
SECTION 13-7-3.

Appellants complain in their brief (though not in their complaint) that the ordinance requires massage parlor operators to violate Utah's Antidiscrimination Act because as a practical matter, operators will hire employees based upon the sex ratio of the clientele and not solely upon the ability of the employee. The statute appellants claim is offended is Utah Code Annotated, Section 34-35-6(1)(a); it provides:

It shall be a discriminatory or unfair employment practice:

For an employer to refuse to hire, to discharge, to promote, demote, or terminate, or to discriminate in matters of compensation against any person otherwise qualified, because of race, color, sex, age, if the individual is 40 years of age or older, religion, ancestry, national origin, or handicap.

The term "employer," as used in the foregoing section, is defined at Utah Code Annotated, Section 34-35-2(5):

"Employer" means the state or any political subdivision or board, commission, department, institution or school district thereof, and every other person employing 25 or more employees within the state; but it does not include religious organizations or associations, religious corporations sole, nor any corporation or association constituting a wholly owned subsidiary or agency of any religious organization or association or religious corporation sole, a bona fide private membership club (other than a labor organization).

The appellants do not have standing to challenge the ordinance upon the grounds it violates Section 34-35-6(1)(a). There is no evidence before this court that any of the appellants employ 25 or more employees, therefore they are not employers as the the term is defined in the Code.

The Supreme Court of Utah has not, previous to the instant case, had the opportunity of deciding if an opposite-sex massage ordinance violates Section 34-35-6(1)(a); however, the federal government has very similar legislation in Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and the federal courts have ruled on this issue. The corresponding legislation provides in part:

It shall be an unlawful employment practice for an employer to fail or refuse to hire or to discharge any individual, or otherwise to discriminate against any individual with respect to his compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, because of such individual's race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. 42 U.S.C. §2000e-2(a)(1).

The term "employer means a person engaged in an industry affecting commerce who has fifteen or more employees for each working day in each of twenty or more calendar weeks in the current or preceding calendar year, and any agent of such a person, but such term does not include (1) the United States, a corporation wholly owned by the Government of the United States, an Indian tribe.... 42 U.S.C. §2000e(b).

The United States Court of Appeals, Fourth Circuit, in Hogge v. Johnson, and the Third Circuit in Colorado Springs Amusements, Ltd. v. Rizzo, ruled that in the absence of evidence showing plaintiffs (massage parlors) met the definition of "employer" there was no violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act. The court in Colorado Springs Amusements, Ltd., supra, decided at page 576-7:

The owners' argument is that compliance with section 9-610(4) of the ordinance would force them to breach section 703(a)(1) and section 703(a)(2) of the Act, which respectively prohibit refusal to hire and deprivation of employment opportunities on the basis of sex. That claim must fail, however, at least in this case. This is so because section 703(a) of the Civil Rights

Act applies only to employment practices by an "employer," and section 701(b) defines an employer as "a person... who has fifteen or more employees...." It is neither alleged nor in any way suggested that any of the owners employ this number of persons. There is thus no violation of the Civil Rights Act.

The Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, a year after its opinion in Hogge v. Johnson, was handed down, decided the case of Aldred v. Duling, 538 F.2d 637 (1976), where the massage parlor owner was an "employer" as defined in the law and, in a per curium decision, the court found that opposite sex massage ordinances do not violate Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. The court stated at pages 637-8:

The plaintiffs contend that the ordinance conflicts with the sex discrimination provisions of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, specifically 42 U.S.C. §2000e et seq. After receiving evidence and hearing arguments, the district court dismissed the complaint as presenting no substantial federal question.

We affirm.

Bo-Jac, Ltd. owns and operates massage parlors in Virginia and North Carolina. It has employed fifteen or more employees for twenty or more calendar weeks and has also purchased materials and supplies that were shipped in interstate commerce. Thus, it is clear that Bo-Jac is an "employer" within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. §2000e.

* * *

The restrictions imposed by the Richmond ordinance apply equally to males and females; neither can perform massages on customers who are members of the opposite sex. Until then, Bo-Jac's all-male clientele had requested masseuses exclusively. The ordinance simply prohibits such a practice. It does not, as a legal matter, require Bo-Jac to hire or fire anyone; nor on its face, does it restrict the gender of the customers that Miss Masseuse may serve. As a practical matter, the ordinance made unlawful the only business Bo-Jac had conducted, the business of supplying masseuses to

service male customers, but, surely, Title VII cannot be read to foreclose the enactment of ordinances which have the effect of making unlawful conduct which may not have been unlawful when Title VII was enacted. Aldred was not discharged because of her sex; her employment was terminated because her employer went out of business. It had no work to be done which Aldred could lawfully perform.

We hold that the ordinance is not in conflict with Title VII of the Act.

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